

ESSENTIAL GOVERNANCE PRACTICES FOR ARTS ORGANISATIONS



CONTENTS

Overview	3
Principles and recommendations	4
Lay solid foundations for management and oversight	4
2. Structure the board to add value	5
3. Act ethically and responsibly	6
4. Ensure diversity	8
5. Safeguard integrity in all reporting	9
6. Engage with stakeholders	10
7. Recognise and manage risk	11
8. Remunerate fairly and responsibly	12
Appendix One: Assessing the independence of board members	12
Appendix Two: Suggestions for the content of a diversity policy7	13
Appendix Three - ACNC Governance Standards	14



OVERVIEW

"What distinguishes exemplary boards is that they are robust, effective social systems" Jeffrey Sonnenfeld

Arts boards govern a wide range of organisations from large performing arts companies, through visual arts, interdisciplinary arts, indigenous arts, literary and smaller community based arts organisations.

Good governance structures encourage these diverse organisations to create value (through entrepreneurism, artistic innovation, development and exploration) and provide accountability and control systems commensurate with the risks involved.

Ultimately the challenge for Boards of arts companies (which are generally Not For Profit), is to lead a thriving organisation by balancing bold artistic vision and programming with sound financial and other management and oversight.

What constitutes good governance will evolve with the changing circumstances of an organisation and must be tailored to meet those circumstances. Best practice must also evolve with developments both in Australia and overseas.

Although the following best practice recommendations cannot, in themselves, prevent failure or mistakes in organisational decision-making, they can provide a reference point for enhanced structures to minimise problems and optimise performance and accountability.

Ultimately good governance is essentially about people working together effectively – especially so in the arts where board members are often voluntary positions. Getting the best out of people is the way to make boards "great".

These principles and best practice guidelines will assist boards and board members of all arts organisations to ensure they meet their legal obligations. Incorporated associations and Aboriginal corporations should also check their legislation for specific legal requirements.

Whilst these principles were adapted with larger arts organisations in mind, they can be applied in a similar manner (subject to scale) to smaller arts organisations. Even the boards of smaller organisations should be seeking to optimise performance and accountability in the interests of the organisation and its key stakeholders, such as government. Organisations can find further practical advice in AICD's The Good Governance Principles and Guidance for Not-for-Profit Organisations on ways to evaluate and implement these principles.

However, if the board believes that a principle or recommendation set out below has no relevance to its organisation, or cannot be reasonably applied given the size or resources of



the organisation, or wishes to implement a principle in a different way, the board should agree on that departure.

Note: In this document references to:

- a. "board" and "board members" also refer to the management committee and committee members of incorporated associations and Aboriginal corporations; and
- b. "executive" can also refer to artistic director, chief executive officer, executive producer or general manager.

PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT

Establish and disclose the respective roles and responsibilities of the board and management and how their performance is monitored and evaluated.

- adopt a formal charter that details the board's principal functions and responsibilities and monitor the effectiveness of governance practices
- provide leadership into the setting of the organisation's strategic direction, mission and vision
- validate and approve business strategy and performance objectives
- ensure that an appropriate risk management framework is in place within the risk appetite that the board expects management to operate
- receive and review regular comprehensive performance reports on all key business areas
- consider, and have final approval of, the proposed performance program and budget
- give prior approval to any material capital expenditure, or any material variation from budgeted or forecast expenditure
- clearly delineate the balance of responsibility between the chair and the executive and regularly monitor and review to ensure division remains appropriate to needs of organisation
- approve a formal statement of delegated authority to management
- ensure that the organisation has adequately documented its key policies (such as artistic policy, communications, marketing, private sector support and fundraising, stakeholder/community relationships, governance, decision-making delegations, and financial management)
- provide an induction procedure for new board members ensuring all board members are made aware of their legal duties to act in the best interests of the organisation and the key terms and conditions relevant to that appointment



- ensure that the executive and senior management have formal job descriptions and a letters of appointment describing their term of office, duties, rights and responsibilities and entitlements on termination, if any
- appoint, monitor performance, and when necessary replace, the CEO and artistic director
- have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the performance of the executive and senior management, including the artistic director; and disclose, in the annual report whether a performance evaluation was undertaken in accordance with that process
- ensure no single individual has unfettered powers.

1.2 STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE

Have a board of an effective composition, size and commitment to adequately discharge its responsibilities and duties.

A high performing, effective board is essential for the proper governance and leadership of an arts organisation. It should challenge management and hold them to account, and also represent the best interests of the members as a whole rather than those of individuals, geographical areas or communities.

Board renewal is critical to performance. Directors should be conscious of the duration of each director's tenure in succession planning.

- have a clear division of responsibility at the head of the organisation the roles of the chair and the executive should not be exercised by the same individual.
- select a chair who can provide effective leadership of the organisation's board and the organisation overall; and efficiently conduct of the organisation board's functions.
- have specific terms for directors, subject to re-election or appointment. Reappointment should not be automatic.
- consider a maximum period of tenure for non-executive board members and a fixed period of appointment for board office-holders; and in particular assess whether any director who has served for more than 10 years has become too close to management or is no longer independent. Consider the requirement to "refresh" a board to ensure diversity of ideas and thought.
- ensure that individual board terms are appropriately staggered, so that there is a continuity of appropriate knowledge, skills and experience on the board, as well as continuity on organisation and board-specific issues.
- have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the performance of the board, its committees and individual directors; and disclose, in annual report whether a performance evaluation was undertaken in accordance with that process.
- have and disclose a board skills matrix setting out the mix of skills, competencies and diversity that the board currently has or is looking to achieve in its membership.
- have and disclose a formal and transparent process for nomination, selection and appointment of board members.



- consider the optimum size of the board. Balance making decisions expediently with the benefit of a variety of perspectives and skills, and ensure that changes to the composition of the board are managed without undue disruption.
- have a majority of independent board members
- ensure the effective contribution of all board members in meetings.
- effectively review and challenge the performance of management.
- exercise independent judgment by board members.
- ensure constructive and respectful relations between board members and between the board, the executive and management.
- provide board members professional development opportunities to update and enhance their skills and knowledge, relevant to the arts organisation and the board.

1. ACT ETHICALLY AND RESPONSIBLY

Acting ethically and responsibly goes well beyond mere compliance with legal obligations. It involves acting with honesty, integrity and in a manner that stakeholders and the broader community expect.

The board should:

- set the ethical tone-from-the-top and standards of the organisation by creating a safe and non-discriminatory workplace; respecting the human rights of employees; dealing honestly and fairly with suppliers and customers; acting responsibly towards the environment; and only dealing with business partners who demonstrate similar ethical and responsible business practices.
- understand the legal obligations and duties of board members and management and the reasonable expectations of the organisation's stakeholders. This includes making sure that the organisation complies with the ACNC governance standards if a charity.
- have a code of conduct for directors, senior executives and employees; and disclose that code or a summary of it. The code of conduct should state the values and policies of the organisation, and complement the organisation's risk management practices.

Refer to Organisations may find it useful to consider the following matters when formulating a diversity policy:

Express the organisation's commitment to diversity at all levels and in art making and arts support roles.

Recognise that diversity not only includes gender diversity but also includes matters of age, disability, ethnicity, marital or family status, religious or cultural background, sexual orientation and gender identity.

Articulate the benefits of diversity in being able to attract, retain and motivate employees from the widest possible pool of available talent.



- Identify and implement programs that will assist in the development of a broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced employees and that, over time, will prepare them for senior management and board positions.
- Ensure that recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are considered and that there are no conscious or unconscious biases that might discriminate against certain candidates.
- Recognise that employees (female and male) at all levels may have domestic responsibilities and adopt flexible work practices that will assist them to meet those responsibilities.
- Emphasise that in order to have a properly functioning diverse workplace, discrimination, harassment, vilification and victimisation cannot and will not be tolerated.
- Have key performance indicators for management to measure the achievement of diversity objectives and link part of their remuneration (either directly or as part of a "balanced scorecard" approach) to the achievement of those objectives.
- ensure senior management implement practices and exhibit behaviours consistent with the required standards.
- monitor and manage actual or potential conflicts of interest of board members, management or employees.

2. ENSURE DIVERSITY

Foster an organisational culture that embraces diversity.

Diversity includes, but is not limited to, Aboriginality, gender, age, ethnicity, disability and cultural background.

The board should:

- Ensure that organisation has a diversity policy that reflects the communities it engages with and disclose the policy or a summary of that policy.
- Establish measurable objectives for achieving diversity .
- Assess annually both the objectives and progress in achieving them.
- Ensure that the organisation discloses in each annual report the measurable objectives for achieving diversity and progress towards achieving them.

3. SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN ALL REPORTING

- Have formal and rigorous processes that independently verify and safeguard the integrity of all compliance and management reporting.
- The board should:



- have an audit committee or if it does not have an audit committee, disclose the processes it employs that independently verify and safeguard the integrity of its compliance reporting.
- have at least one director member who with financial expertise (as demonstrated by relevant qualifications and financial management experience at senior management level in the public or private sector).
- before it approves the entity's financial statements for a financial period, receive from its CEO and CFO (or person responsible for financial management) a declaration that, in their opinion, the financial records of the entity have been properly maintained and that the financial statements comply with the appropriate accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the entity and that the opinion has been formed on the basis of a sound system of risk management and internal control which is operating effectively.
- have audit committee members who are financially literate. If there is no audit committee, the board should have processes in place that raise issues that would otherwise be considered by an audit committee.
- have and disclose a formal charter for its audit committee and be of sufficient size, independence and technical expertise to discharge its functions effectively.
- appoint a qualified firm or individual to conduct an annual audit of the organisation's financial statements that is consistent with Australian accounting standards. Although not always legally required for smaller organisations, a properly conducted audit of the year's finances assists the board in their forward planning, gives valuable information to potential income sources (philanthropic foundations, private donors, sponsors, funding bodies) and generally lends credibility to the organisation.
- ensure that its external auditor attends its AGM and is available to answer questions from members relevant to the audit.
- review on a regular basis and consider the independence, competence and effectiveness
 of the external auditors and the implications for succession that may arise from that
 consideration.

4. ENGAGE WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Respect and observe legal and other obligations, including the rights of all relevant stakeholders.

- ensure that organisation provides information about itself and its governance to stakeholders via its website.
- ensure the organisation's legal obligations to government funding agencies are met. The
 organisation's board should establish procedures to ensure timely provision of the
 required information, which includes the organisation's financial situation, its performance



and its governance. The material should be factual, and presented in a clear and balanced way, i.e., disclosing both positive and negative information.

- ensure the organisation has an effective communication strategy for advising government funding agencies and other key income providers about any material changes in the organisation's circumstances. Communications should be designed to enhance the precision of the funding agencies', or other potential fund raising targets, decision making processes.
- establish procedures to guide compliance with legal obligations (e.g., OH&S) and other stakeholder obligations such as to employees, clients/customers, governments and the community as a whole.

5. RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK

Establish a sound risk management framework and periodically review the effectiveness of that framework that ensures the organisation will deliver on its purpose.

The organisation should address risks that could have a material impact on its performance and business model. These may include, but are not limited to, strategic risks, operational or artistic direction risks, funding risks, reputational or brand risks, compliance risks, environmental risks, human capital risks, financial reporting risks and arts sector-related risks, for example.

Business risk is about uncertainty. Paradoxically artistic risk is not generally a business risk because the outcome can often be predicted.

The board is ultimately responsible for deciding the nature and extent of the risks it is prepared to take to meet its goals.

- Ensure the organisation's policies on risk oversight and management are satisfactory. The
 policies should cover oversight, risk profiling and assessment, risk management practices,
 compliance and control mechanisms and systems. Risk management policies should take
 into account legal obligations and stakeholder expectations.
- have a committee to oversee risk. If it does not then clearly determine the roles and accountabilities for risk management across the board and management.
- Review the organisation's risk management framework at least annually to satisfy itself that it continues to be sound.
- Recognise the inherent potential conflict between the chief executive officer / executive, or equivalent, and artistic director, or equivalent, in managing day-to-day issues, establishing an appropriate system for controlling and managing risks and ultimately providing adequate management assurance on material risks, including financial reporting risks
- disclose whether it has any material exposure to economic, environmental and social sustainability risks and, if it does, how it manages or intends to manage those risks.



6. REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY

Ensure that the level and composition of remuneration is sufficient and reasonable and that its relationship to organisation and individual performance is defined.

The board should:

- adopt remuneration policies that attract and retain talented and motivated management and employees
- clearly establish the structure of non-executive board members' remuneration, where applicable for non-volunteer board members, from that of management remuneration
- approve remuneration levels for the executive, or equivalent, the artistic director, or equivalent, and any executive reports whose responsibilities materially influence the organisation's artistic direction, strategy, operations and financial performance.
 Remuneration levels should be fairly based on arts sector and organisational-size references and designed motivate management and employees to pursue long term growth and success of the organisation. Remuneration levels should reflect core performance requirements and expectations.
- ensure that no individual, either board members, if remunerated, or management, be directly involved in deciding their own remuneration
- ensure that termination payments for leadership staff are agreed in advance and clearly address what will happen in the case of early termination. There should be no payment for removal for misconduct.

APPENDIX ONE: ASSESSING THE INDEPENDENCE OF BOARD MEMBERS

An independent director is a non-executive director who is not a member of management and who is free of any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with - or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with - the independent exercise of their judgement. Family or community ties and cross-directorships may be relevant in considering interests and relationships which may affect independence, and should be disclosed by directors to the board.

Office bearers (such as the board chair, audit committee chair or treasurer) should be independent board members.

When determining the independent status of a board member, the board should consider whether the board member:

- 9. is employed, or has previously been employed in an executive capacity by the organisation or another group member, and there has not been a period of at least three years between ceasing such employment and serving on the board;
- has within the last three years been a principal of a material professional adviser or a
 material consultant to the organisation or another group member, or an employee
 materially associated with the service provided;



- 11. is a material supplier or customer of the organisation or other group member, or an officer of or otherwise associated directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer;
- 12. has a material contractual relationship with the organisation or another group member other than as a board member of the organisation; or
- 13. is a substantial shareholder of the organisation or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, a substantial shareholder of the organisation.

The board should regularly assess whether each non-executive director is independent. Each non-executive director should provide to the board all information that may be relevant to this assessment. If a director's independent status changes, this should be disclosed in a timely manner to stakeholders.

APPENDIX TWO: SUGGESTIONS FOR THE CONTENT OF A DIVERSITY POLICY

Organisations may find it useful to consider the following matters when formulating a diversity policy:

- 14. Express the organisation's commitment to diversity at all levels and in art making and arts support roles.
- 15. Recognise that diversity not only includes gender diversity but also includes matters of age, disability, ethnicity, marital or family status, religious or cultural background, sexual orientation and gender identity.
- 16. Articulate the benefits of diversity in being able to attract, retain and motivate employees from the widest possible pool of available talent.
- 17. Identify and implement programs that will assist in the development of a broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced employees and that, over time, will prepare them for senior management and board positions.
- 18. Ensure that recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are considered and that there are no conscious or unconscious biases that might discriminate against certain candidates.
- Recognise that employees (female and male) at all levels may have domestic responsibilities and adopt flexible work practices that will assist them to meet those responsibilities.
- 20. Emphasise that in order to have a properly functioning diverse workplace, discrimination, harassment, vilification and victimisation cannot and will not be tolerated.
- 21. Have key performance indicators for management to measure the achievement of diversity objectives and link part of their remuneration (either directly or as part of a "balanced scorecard" approach) to the achievement of those objectives.



APPENDIX THREE - ACNC GOVERNANCE STANDARDS

To be and remain registered with the ACNC, all charities (except basic religious charities) must comply with its five governance standards. These are a set of core, minimum requirements for the governance of charities.

The five governance standards are:

Standard 1: Purposes and not-for-profit nature of a registered entity

Registered charities ('registered entities') must be not-for-profit and work towards their charitable purpose. A charity must be able to demonstrate this to the ACNC and provide information about its purpose to the public (for example, by having a copy of its rules on the ACNC Register).

Standard 2: Accountability to members

Charities must take reasonable steps to be accountable to their members and provide their members adequate opportunity to raise concerns about how the charity is governed. This standard only applies to charities that have members (so not to trusts).

Standard 3: Compliance with Australian laws

A charity must not commit a serious offence (such as fraud) under any Australian law or breach a law that may result in a civil penalty of at least 60 penalty units (as at June 2013, this is \$10 200).

Standard 4: Suitability of board members ('responsible persons')

Charities must take reasonable steps to ensure that their board members are not disqualified from managing a corporation (under the Corporations Act) or currently disqualified from being a board member for a registered charity by the ACNC Commissioner. Charities must take reasonable steps to remove board members who do not meet these requirements.

Standard 5: Duties of board members ('responsible persons')

Charities must take reasonable steps to make sure that their board members know and understand their legal duties and that they carry out some of the more significant of these duties.

ESSENTIAL GOVERNANCE PRACTICES FOR ARTS ORGANISATIONS

Australia Council for the Arts Publication: December 2015

Author: Kevin Golding



Acknowledgements

Adapted with permission from Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations,
 3rd edition 2014, ASX Corporate Governance Council.

What's New

This document -

- Adapts the 3rd edition of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, 2014.
- Integrates ACNC Governance standards for charities.

OTHER RESOURCES

Australia Council

- This document may be read in conjunction with other resources on the Australia Council for the Arts website which we hope will be useful for organisations. They are:
- On board is a short, easy-to-read guide to the basics of governance for arts organisations.
 It's a useful resource for those serving on boards and for staff of arts organisations who work closely with their chairs and board members.
- On board is written by David Fishel, one of Australia's foremost writers on governance for not-for-profit organisations. The booklet is an accompaniment to <u>The Book of the board:</u> <u>Effective Governance for Non-Profit Organisations 2nd edition</u> by David Fishel (Federation Press, 2008), which provides more detail on these and other topics of concern to board members and staff of non-profit organisations.

Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission (ACNC)

 Governance for Good: the ACNC's guide for charity board members explains charity governance and the role of board member

Australian Institute of Company Directors (AICD)

 Good Governance Principles and Guidance for NFP Organisations are designed: to assist boards in determining what constitutes good governance practice for their organisations; and to promote and facilitate the crucial conversations and associated activities NFP organisations undertake regularly to achieve good governance. These guidelines are not an attempt to formulate rules on what might constitute good

Disclaimer

Australia Council accepts no responsibility for the completeness or accuracy of any of the information contained in this document. Organisations should make their own judgments about this and seek expert advice if necessary. To the extent permitted by law, The Australia



Council excludes all liability for loss or damage arising from the use of, or reliance on, the information contained in this document, whether or not caused by any negligence on the part of the Australia Council or its staff.